

# WebFOCUS

Release 8207.01 About This Release

May 27, 2020

Active Technologies, EDA, EDA/SQL, FIDEL, FOCUS, Information Builders, the Information Builders logo, iWay, iWay Software, Parlay, PC/FOCUS, RStat, Table Talk, Web390, WebFOCUS, WebFOCUS Active Technologies, and WebFOCUS Magnify are registered trademarks, and DataMigrator and Hyperstage are trademarks of Information Builders, Inc.

Adobe, the Adobe logo, Acrobat, Adobe Reader, Flash, Adobe Flash Builder, Flex, and PostScript are either registered trademarks or trademarks of Adobe Systems Incorporated in the United States and/or other countries.

Due to the nature of this material, this document refers to numerous hardware and software products by their trademarks. In most, if not all cases, these designations are claimed as trademarks or registered trademarks by their respective companies. It is not this publisher's intent to use any of these names generically. The reader is therefore cautioned to investigate all claimed trademark rights before using any of these names other than to refer to the product described.

Copyright © 2019, by Information Builders, Inc. and iWay Software. All rights reserved. Patent Pending. This manual, or parts thereof, may not be reproduced in any form without the written permission of Information Builders, Inc.

# Contents

1. 8207.01 Release Notes	5
Release and Gen Information	5
New Features	5
Customizing Path for the Getting Started Carousel	6
User Language Preference	
Adding Insight-Enabled Charts to a Visualization	8
Dynamic Grouping Enhancements	8
Changing the Size of the Hole in a Ring Pie Chart	9
Field List Expands to First Field.	9
WebFOCUS Designer Browser Tab Name	10
Using the Outline to Access the Source Syntax of a Single Chart or Report	10
Extended Chart Series Colors for Default Themes	10
Union, Join, and Select Editors Open as Nearly Full-Screen Windows	
Limiting the Number of Automatic Join Pairs in Tables Without Keys	
Previewing a File When Uploading	
Redesign of Business View Icons	15
Numeric Fields Classified as Dimensions by Default Based on Field Names	16
Using Columns While Selecting a Data Source	
Sample Data Shows Warning Messages	17
Sampling Shows Warning Messages	18
Fixes	19
Known Issues	20
System Requirements	

Contents



# 8207.01 Release Notes

The following topic provides all the information that you need to know about this release of WebFOCUS.

### In this chapter:

- Release and Gen Information
- New Features
- Fixes
- Known Issues
- System Requirements

### **Release and Gen Information**

Release Date	Gen Information	Reporting Server
Friday, November 8, 2019	wf110619a Gen 8	8207 Gen 1905

### **New Features**

### Customizing Path for the Getting Started Carousel

You can now configure the Getting Started carousel to point to a different workspace in your repository. This can be achieved by customizing the Default List Repository Path setting in the Administration Console. Update the path to reflect the name of your chosen workspace, save your changes, and reload the Home Page. The top carousel changes to display the workspace you selected. The title linked to the name assigned to the workspace becomes the new title of the Carousel. The following image shows an example of a custom carousel in the Home view of the Home Page.



**Note:** If you point to a non-existent workspace or replace the path with a blank space in the Default List Repository Path setting, the Getting Started carousel will not display. You can always restore the default path automatically by clearing the value assigned to this setting, saving the change, signing out and signing back in to reload the Home Page.

### User Language Preference

Users can now customize their language preference from the User Menu of the Home Page. Click your user icon in the upper-right corner of the Home Page, click Preferences, and then choose a language from the My Preferences dialog box, as shown in the following image.

	Shared with Me	Workshaces	
	My Preferences		×
Ŀ	Language		
L	English		
L	English		Cancel Save
	Deutsch		
1	Español		
	Francais - Canada		
	· · · · ·		
ales	Français - France	fit by Category	Category Sales - Shortcut
	Italiano		
	Português - Brasil		
-	中文 - 繁體 Big-5		
_	中文 - 简体 GB		
	日本語		67.33
	한국어		

### Adding Insight-Enabled Charts to a Visualization

When you add an Insight-enabled chart to a visualization assembled from existing content, the Insight icon appears in the upper-right corner of the chart, as shown in the following image.



When you run the visualization and click the Insight icon, the Insight chart opens in a new browser tab and displays the Insight toolbar, allowing you to interact with the chart at runtime with full Insight functionality.

### **Dynamic Grouping Enhancements**

When creating dynamic groups in WebFOCUS Designer using the Create groups and Edit groups dialog boxes, you can use drag actions to modify groups. You can drag one value onto another to create a group with those two values, drag a value into an existing group to add it to the group, drag a group onto an ungrouped value to add the value to the group, drag a group into another group to combine them, or drag a value from one group into another group to move it to that group. You can also now edit a dynamic group field once it has been added to your content by right-clicking it in a bucket, in addition to the field list. These features make it easy to create and edit your dynamic groups.

For more information, see the Using Dynamic Grouping for Dimension Field Values topic.

### Changing the Size of the Hole in a Ring Pie Chart

When creating a ring pie chart in WebFOCUS Designer, you can change the size of the hole in the middle, or remove it entirely, giving you more control over the appearance of your chart. When you create a ring pie chart, select the *Format* tab, and then select *Series* from the area menu. When *All Series* is selected, the Hole Size property appears in the Shape section. Set a size, as a percent of total diameter, for the ring pie hole. The total value text inside the hole shrinks or expands to fit in the space. If you set the hole size to *0*, the ring pie chart becomes a standard pie chart, with no total value text displayed, as shown in the following image.



### Field List Expands to First Field

When creating content in WebFOCUS Designer, the field list in the Resources panel now expands to the first available field by default once a data source is selected. If there are multiple nested folders at the top of the business view, they are expanded, by default, one-by-one, starting from the top, until the first fields are visible. Additional folders within the last expanded folder are not expanded once fields are visible. This makes it easier to access fields in a data source without requiring the user to manually expand multiple folders, while still keeping most folders closed to avoid the need for excessive scrolling.

### WebFOCUS Designer Browser Tab Name

When editing a previously saved visualization in WebFOCUS Designer, the name of the browser tab is taken from the title of the visualization. This makes it easy to identify which visualization is being edited on each tab, particularly when multiple instances of WebFOCUS Designer are open. Prior to saving, a browser tab in which WebFOCUS Designer is running is named *Designer*.

### Using the Outline to Access the Source Syntax of a Single Chart or Report

When creating a new visualization in WebFOCUS Designer, the outline is now available for stand-alone content items. This allows you to view the WebFOCUS Language source syntax of stand-alone content items, which significantly facilitates troubleshooting. Select *Outline* on the sidebar and right-click the chart or report listed in the outline, then click *View source code*. The source syntax displays in a read-only text editor. You can copy the syntax, download the chart or report as a .fex file, and search through the syntax using the options on the toolbar. To return to the canvas, click the X in the upper-right corner of the page.

### **Extended Chart Series Colors for Default Themes**

By default, WebFOCUS includes three themes: Designer 2018, Light, and Midnight. These themes specify styling properties for charts, reports, and pages. For charts, one of these properties is a set of series colors. Series colors represent different values of a dimension field added to the Color bucket. When the number of series values in a chart exceeds the number of specified series colors, those colors are repeated in the specified order with increasing lightness applied with each cycle.

To delay the repetition of series colors, additional series color values have been added to each of the default themes, increasing the number of specified series colors from 6 to 12. The following image shows the same chart with 12 series values, using each of the three default themes.





### Union, Join, and Select Editors Open as Nearly Full-Screen Windows

In prior releases, the Join Editor, Union Editor, and Select Editor opened as panes on the Data Flow Workspace. Now, they open as popup windows on top of the Data Flow Workspace and are almost full-screen size, as shown in the following image.

542.0	Edit	Union	DATA FLOW									>	~
	5	- C -											
	Con	figure Union T2 Union    Remove duplicate rows	Show missing mate	hes only	1		\$ Search	1			×	٩	
		citibike_tripdata (T1)	citibike_tripdata2 (T5)			tripduration [	start station id ]	end station id [	bikeid [	birth year 1	gender	( )	isert
	1	TRIPDURATION		1	Ť	897	493	454	18340	1966	1	1 S	ŝu ^
1	2	START STATION ID	START STATION ID			267	3143	3226	21458	1996	1	1 0	2u
в	-				- 1	2201	317	3469	39874	1986	1	1 5	RU .
	3	END_STATION_ID *	END_STATION_ID		Ť.	1660	249	369	38865	1988	1	1 5	yu .
	4	BIKEID	BIKEID			109	3552	3538	30256	1997	1	1 5	AU .
						106	3593	3592	16875	1988	1	1 5	yu .
	5	BIRTHLYEAR	BIRTH_YEAR -			550	3507	3553	34139	1992	1	1 5	9U
	6	GENDER -	GENDER		÷.	338	478	388	39703	1995	1	1 5	20
						469	514	458	28266	1989	1	1 5	JU
	7	USERTYPE -	USERTYPE		Ť	562	116	462	26757	1965	1	1 8	20
	8	START_STATION_NAME *	START_STATION_NAME	:		2420	3054	3054	28840	1980			4
				ñ.	-	257	2110	2110	25290	1004		1 4	
	9	STARI_STATION_LATITODE ·	START_STATION_LATITODE		- 1 I	305	402	461	34925	1965		1 5	21
1	0	START_STATION_LONGITUDE -	START_STATION_LONGITUDE -	1	÷.	366	3578	3581	38092	1988		2 5	Su
	,	START STATION POINT				1006	382	545	17972	1969	(	0 0	Cu
					-	936	3674	3795	31672	1965		1 8	su
1	2	END_STATION_LATITUDE *	END_STATION_LATITUDE	-		• 584	455	3711	38455	1989		1 8	ŝu
	+	Tear All					0/10			1007			-
											Cancel	ок	

This provides more room to see and edit the on-screen elements than when they were confined to a small pane on the bottom of the screen.

### Limiting the Number of Automatic Join Pairs in Tables Without Keys

When you join files or tables without keys, the join created automatically based on matching field names is now limited to three pairs of join fields, to avoid attempting a join on an excessive number of fields, especially when joining a table to itself. For example, the following image shows the default automatic join pairs for two tables with the same fields.

Edit Join from CITIBIKE_1	RIPDATA	to CITIBIKE_TRIPDAT	A2
- C - C			
Configure Join			÷
Join Type			
Inner Left	D Duter	() Right Outer	<b>O</b> Full Outer
Join Clauses			
citibike_tripdata (T1)		citibike_tripdata2 (T2)	
TRIPDURATION	=	TRIPDURATION	
START_STATION_ID	= •	START_STATION_ID	
END_STATION_ID	= •	END_STATION_ID	
+ Expression	🖓 Sugge	stions	Tear All

You can always add additional pairs or remove pairs, as needed.

This limit does not affect joins on tables with keys, where all of the key fields are joined.

### Previewing a File When Uploading

When you upload a file, you can preview the file to make sure that you uploaded the one that you wanted. You can also make some adjustments to the data before loading it to a target, as shown in the following image.

HEETS														
Name		Application Folder	Sheet Name [	Rows (	Columns ]	Skipped Rows	Header Rows	Status Action	ns					
retail_data		ibisamp	retail data	43247	14	0	1	Uploaded Hide	Load					
ETAIL DATA (PREVIEW)		Cr	osstab Form	atted	taw Skipp	ed rows: 0	• He	ader rows:1	- More	•	Search		×	×Q
It PRODUCT_CATEGORY [ ]	It PRODUCT	SUBCATEGORY	At STORE_TYPE	E E An	STORE_NAM		ITRY : 8 ST			🗂 SAL	E_DATE 🗄 🗂 REVE	NUE	COST_OF_GOODS [ 1	🖽 GR
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	D	es Moines	United St	ates Iowa	Des Moines	Geographic R	ole 🕨	Continent Name	7.45	2288	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	Di	ayton	United St	ates Ohio	Dayton	Data Type		Country Name	1.56	9459	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	S	outh Salt Lake	United St	ates Utah	South Salt L	ak		State Name	2.79	4049	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	0:	slo	Norway	Oslo	Oslo	Rename		County Name	4.04	9206	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	D	as Moines	United St	ates Iowa	Des Moines	Remove		City Name	1.17	2962	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	Di	ayton	United St	ates Ohio	Dayton	North America	10/02/	Postal code	4.04	9206	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	Se	outh Salt Lake	United St	ates Utah	South Salt L	ake North America	10/05/	Address	4.52	3853	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	0:	slo	Norway	Oslo	Oslo	EMEA	11/13/	Auditess	7.63	13293	
Video Production	Video Editing		Store Front	D	es Moines	United St	ates Iowa	Des Moines	North America	11/06/	Advanced •	2.90	4513	
		_												,
											(None)			
EXT STEPS														

When preparing the data:

- □ The headers and sample content are shown. By default, formatted data is shown, with the generated data types identified. You can click the *Raw* button to see unformatted data.
- The number of header rows is determined by scanning the file, but it can be changed as required.
- □ For an Excel Worksheet, there is an option to read the file as a cross-tab.
- **I** The derived data type is shown for each field. You can change the basic data type.
- □ You can, optionally, change or assign a geographic role.
- A field name is shown for each field, either from the header, when available, or generated as the name FIELD with an index (FIELDx). You have the option to rename the field.
- ❑ You can also change the name of the metadata object (synonym) that is created and, for workbooks with multiple worksheets, choose which ones to load.
- □ You can click the *More* button to access additional file options.

After you load the data, the page that opens has a *Preview* button, as shown in the following image.

U	ploading Data								
s	HEETS								
	Name	Application Folder	Sheet Name (	Rows [	Columns [	Skipped Rows	Header Rows	Status [	Actions
	retail_data	ibisamp	retail data	43247	14	0	1	Loaded	Preview Reload

If you click *Preview*, you open the same preview pane, with the same options that were available in the Prepare step.

You can click Reload, to reload the data, if necessary.

### **Redesign of Business View Icons**

When editing a Business View, the buttons now have icons that are more standard and clear, and are grouped in a more logical configuration, as shown in the following image.

	Business View 😂 🔚 📑 🔛 📫
Th	e first group of buttons control the Business View:
	The Reset Default button (
	The <i>Flatten</i> button ()) lists all measure fields under a single measure group and all dimension fields under a single dimension, with no children.
	The Create Template Folders button ( ) creates empty basic folders when there is no Business View already defined.
	The Hide All button ( ) removes the Business View. A Create Default button ( ) appears so you can create the default Business View.

The second group of buttons provide options for the window:

□ The *Display* button ( ) lets you show Folders and Columns or just Folders, or opens a window with a modeling view of the folders.

□ The *Find* button ( ) opens a search box in which you can enter characters. All component names that contain those characters are highlighted.

□ The Choose Columns button ( ) has two options. Choose Columns opens a dialog box for selecting the attributes in the synonym that you want to display. Reset Columns returns the display to the default columns.

### Numeric Fields Classified as Dimensions by Default Based on Field Names

Q

When uploading a data file, or when creating a data flow or default Business View, if the name of a numeric field implies that it is more likely to be a dimension than a measure, it is classified as a dimension by default. For example, fields ending with \_ID such as ORDER\_ID are now classified as dimensions by default.

This allows you to create content that more accurately represents your data.

### Using Columns While Selecting a Data Source

The Select Data Source dialog box, which displays when you select data for your visualization in WebFOCUS Designer, now features a column selector. In this dialog box, you can customize the number and type of columns, sort each column by clicking the title, and search for a specific data source. This enhancement is especially useful when you are working with a large number of data sources. An example of the new Select Data Source dialog box is shown in the following image.

Select Dat	a Source		×
Workspa	ce: My Workspace 👻		Search data sources Q
Туре	Title 🔺	Folder	Last Modified
*	brokers	ibisamp	12/1/2019 10:33:43 PM
*	car	ibisamp	12/1/2019 10:33:43 PM
*	carolap	ibisamp	12/1/2019 10:33:46 PM
ж	cashflow	ibisamp	12/1/2019 10:33:43 PM
ж	centurysales	ibisamp	2/23/2009 9:23:00 PM
*	course	ibisamp	12/1/2019 10:33:45 PM
*	courses	ibisamp	12/1/2019 10:33:46 PM
*	dmvpx	ibisamp	7/25/2017 11:24:01 PM
*	ed_type_lookup	new_retail	12/1/2019 9:51:20 PM
*	ed_type_lookup	retail_samples	12/1/2019 9:51:20 PM
			Cancel Select

### Sample Data Shows Warning Messages

When generating sample data in the Synonym Editor or a Data Flow, if problems occur reading the data, an indicator that there are messages displays on the screen, as shown in the following image.



If you click this indicator, you can see the actual messages, as shown in the following image.

Warning Message	×
٩	• • •
1 [FOC2526) WARNING: NO JOIN CONDITION SPECIFIED FOR SEGMENT : WRD_WF_RETAIL_STORE 2 0 NUMBER OF RECORDS IN TABLE= 0 LINES= 0 4	
	Å

### **Sampling Shows Warning Messages**

When sampling is enabled in a data flow and any errors occur reading the data, a warning indicator displays on the synonym node that has the sampling errors. Hovering over the indicator shows the messages, or a partial list, depending on the length and number of the messages, as shown in the following image.



To open a window with the complete list of messages, you can right-click the synonym and click *Show Errors*, as shown in the following image.



A window opens showing the complete list of messages.

The Reports pane also shows the indicator.

If you click that indicator, the message window opens.

### Fixes

- □ A Stacked Line visualization is not sorted properly when using a date field with the Mrt month format. (190117048)
- ❑ A configuration option is now available to select between Bulk load or WebFOCUS native load (TABLE) for repository archive. (180813120)
- □ Implement Hyperstage version 2018.1p1 for Windows to avoid a system reboot when the following error occurs: boost::interprocess::intermodule\_singleton initialization failed (191029015, 191104099)

- □ A request that contains a fully qualified DEFINE field resulted in an error: FOC003 THE FIELDNAME IS NOT RECOGNIZED: SEGMENT.FIELDNAME (190723037)
- ❑ JSON array notation is not set when ACCESS\_PROPERTY=(ARRAY\_ITEM) is set in the Metadata and proper statements are sent in the request. Support has been added for handling single quotation marks in the JSON sample within Document Sample for Create Synonym. (191028106)
- Running a dashboard that submits multiple requests against a Vertica database can result in a JSCOM3 crash due to the number of concurrent requests to the Vertica JDBC driver or JVM. (191004040)
- □ Creating the default Business View for an OData synonym removes the REFERENCE= key when the synonym is saved. (191016029)
- □ Issues occur when trying to use the adapter for Presto with SSL. (191023162, 200429022)

### **Known Issues**

❑ The WebFOCUS help system does not work when the Application Server is configured with Java Version 11. As a workaround, you can configure your WebFOCUS instance to use help hosted by IBI. This provides an additional benefit, as users will have access to the latest content.

To accomplish this, you need to perform the following configuration using the WebFOCUS Administration Console:

- 1. Select the Configuration tab and navigate to Application Settings and then Application Contexts.
- 2. Change the Help value to /ibi\_apps/ibi\_help.

**Note:** The ibi\_apps value must be the same as the WebFOCUS web app context created during installation. If you provided an alias, for example, ibi\_apps8206, then the value for Help should be entered as /ibi\_apps8206/ibi\_help.

- 3. Set the Help Proxy Host and Port value to onlinehelp.informationbuilders.com.
- 4. Set the *Help Proxy Context* to */wfappent/8206*. If you are using WebFOCUS Release 8207, set the value to */wfappent/8207*.
- 5. Select the Help Proxy Secure check box.

### For example:

		0.000	COLO CHOIL	 
configuration	Application Contexts			
Reporting Servers				
Distribution Directories	W Help //bi_Apps//bi_help			
Application Settings	Help Proxy Host and Port     onlinehelp.informationbuilders.c	m		
Application Contexts	Help Pracy Context			
Application Directories	Instheticte			
I BE Portal	😢 Help Praxy Secure 🗹			
Kange Hanagement	ReportCaster Application			
Client Settings	Transfere			
Deferred Reporting	WebFOCUS Servlet //bi_apps/WPServlet.bfs			
Encryption	WebFOCUS Application //bi accos			
1 Elbert				
X Happify	Default host and port for product features     Http://dp03423-1:80			
Multiple Reports				
3 On-Demand Paging	Save Car	cel		
X Other				
Parameter Prompting				
Quick Data				
Repository				
Source Code Management	*			

- 6. Click the *Clear Cache* option and continue to sign out and sign in for the settings to take effect.
- ❑ The canvas of WebFOCUS Designer for this release is an interactive canvas based on AHTML. When creating a report, page and row break settings are not supported on this canvas for this release. If you select any other output format, such as HTML, PDF, PPTX, or XLSX, you will see these breaks at runtime. These output format options are available for stand-alone content items only. This will be resolved with the introduction of the non-interactive document canvas in a future release.
- ❑ When an Insight-enabled chart created in the 8207.00 version of WebFOCUS Designer is added to a visualization as external content, the Insight icon does not appear on the chart when the page is run, so Insight features cannot be accessed. Resave the chart in WebFOCUS Designer 8207.01 or later to make Insight available when the chart is added to a visualization.
- □ When working with the Cell menu in an interactive report, the filtering functionality does not work as expected.
- ❑ When saving an artifact (from or of and interactive report, chart or dashboard), the output file name is ARsave.html rather than ARhtml.html.
- □ If you create a report or chart in ARVERSION=2 (In-Document Analytics) and you set the output format to PDF Analytic Document, an error occurs when you run it. If you change the option in Procedure Settings to Legacy, the report or chart is produced correctly.

- If you are working with an In-Document Analytics chart in landscape mode on an Android mobile device and you switch to portrait mode, your content displays in fullscreen mode. Your chart displays at the bottom. If you run your content in new window mode, your In-Document Analytics chart does not display in fullscreen mode, displaying the chart on the right.
- HIDENULLACRS, which hides across columns that have null or zero values in the entire column, is not supported with interactive content using the new Designer style of In-Document Analytics capabilities.
- □ If you add an existing ARVERSION=1 report to an AHTML document set to ARVERSION=2, it fails at run time, displaying JSON text on the screen instead of the expected report output.
- □ If you are working with a procedure (.fex) and you change the ARVERSION to ARVERSION=2, global filters do not display when you run the procedure.
- □ Fully-developed content sharing capabilities are not available in release 8207.
- In a scatter plot chart or bubble chart, multiple measure fields on the horizontal and vertical axes generate separate axes, resulting in a grid of scatter plots for each combination of measure fields. In WebFOCUS Designer, if you create a scatter plot chart or bubble chart with multiple measures in the Vertical or Horizontal buckets, only the axis for the first measure in each bucket displays on the canvas. When you run the chart, all measure fields in the Vertical and Horizontal buckets are shown as separate axes, as intended.
- Both the db\_collation.sh file and the db\_collation.bat file generate the "Main WARN Error while converting string [] to type," error message in the Command Prompt window at the end of their run. This message has no impact on the functionality of this post-installation utility, and it completes the run successfully.
- The load\_repos.sh file generates the "WARNING: sun.reflect.Reflection.getCaller Class is not supported. This will impact performance," error message in the Command Prompt window at the end of its run. In addition, the db\_inplace\_update.sh, WFReposUtilCMDLine.sh, and update\_repos.sh files generate the "Main WARN Error while converting string [] to type," error message in the Command Prompt window at the end of their run. These messages have no impact on the functionality of these post installation utilities, and each one completes its run successfully.

### System Requirements

This release is now certified and has been tested with Google Chrome version 77, Firefox version 69, and Microsoft Edge version 44 (WebFOCUS only). Internet Explorer Compatibility mode is not supported. For additional browser details, see *Browser Information*.

For more information on supported clients and more, see *Release Information*.

## Feedback

Customer success is our top priority. Connect with us today!

Information Builders Technical Content Management team is comprised of many talented individuals who work together to design and deliver quality technical documentation products. Your feedback supports our ongoing efforts!

You can also preview new innovations to get an early look at new content products and services. Your participation helps us create great experiences for every customer.

To send us feedback or make a connection, contact Sarah Buccellato, Technical Editor, Technical Content Management at Sarah\_Buccellato@ibi.com.

To request permission to repurpose copyrighted material, please contact Frances Gambino, Vice President, Technical Content Management at *Frances\_Gambino@ibi.com*.



Release 8207.01 About This Release





Information Builders, Inc. Two Penn Plaza New York, NY 10121-2898

DN4501762.1219